Distribution Agreement

In presenting this thesis or dissertation as a partial fulfillment of the requirements for an advanced degree from Emory University, I hereby grant to Emory University and its agents the non-exclusive license to archive, make accessible, and display my thesis or dissertation in whole or in part in all forms of media, now or hereafter known, including display on the world wide web. I understand that I may select some access restrictions as part of the online submission of this thesis or dissertation. I retain all ownership rights to the copyright of the thesis or dissertation. I also retain the right to use in future works (such as articles or books) all or part of this thesis or dissertation.

Signature:

Kaitlin Cirulli

Date

Cardiovascular Risk Factors and Cardiac Biomarkers in Veterans Living with HIV and

Uninfected Individuals

By

Kaitlin Cirulli

Master of Public Health

Global Epidemiology

Alvaro Alonso, MD, PhD

Committee Chair

Cardiovascular Risk Factors and Cardiac Biomarkers in Veterans Living with HIV and

Uninfected Individuals

By

Kaitlin Cirulli

Bachelor of Science

North Carolina State University

2016

Faculty Thesis Advisor: Alvaro Alonso, MD, PhD

An abstract of

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of the

Rollins School of Public Health of Emory University

in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Public Health

in Global Epidemiology

2019

Abstract

Cardiovascular Risk Factors and Cardiac Biomarkers in Veterans Living with HIV and

Uninfected Individuals

By Kaitlin Cirulli

Background: Non-communicable diseases have increased in people living with HIV; in particular, the risk of developing cardiovascular disease is two-fold higher in HIV-positive individuals.

Methods: Forty HIV-positive participants and uninfected individuals were recruited from the Atlanta VA Medical Center. Cardiovascular risk factors were collected through physical exams and paper questionnaires, and the following biomarkers were measured: high-sensitivity C-reactive protein (hsCRP), galectin-3, amino terminal propeptide of Btype natriuretic peptide (NT-proBNP), troponin T (TnT), and 3-nitrotyrosine (3-NT). Cardiovascular health was defined using the American Heart Association's Life's Simple 7. Multivariable logistic regression and multiple linear regression was conducted to evaluate the association of HIV infection status with risk factors and biomarkers of interest.

Results: HIV-positive participants on average scored 1.7 points higher (95% confidence interval: 0.9, 2.4) than uninfected individuals for the measure of overall cardiovascular health. HIV-positive participants were more likely to report a history of smoking and moderate exercise and less likely to report being a current smoker, use of medications for cholesterol, and use of medications for blood pressure. Additionally, HIV-positive participants had higher concentrations of hsCRP, galectin-3, and TnT values, and lower NT-proBNP and 3-NT values; however, these findings were not statistically significant.

Conclusions: In general, HIV-positive participants had better levels of cardiovascular health than uninfected individuals; however, biomarker results indicate a potentially greater risk for cardiovascular disease in the future.

Cardiovascular Risk Factors and Cardiac Biomarkers in Veterans Living with HIV and

Uninfected Individuals

By

Kaitlin Cirulli

Bachelor of Science

North Carolina State University

2016

Faculty Thesis Advisor: Alvaro Alonso, MD, PhD

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of the Rollins School of Public Health of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Public Health in Global Epidemiology

2019

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank my faculty advisor, Dr. Alvaro Alonso, for his guidance and wealth of knowledge during the preparation of my master's thesis. Additionally, I would like to express my gratitude to my field advisor, Dr. Vincent Marconi, for his support throughout the entirety of this project. Dr. Marconi and his team at the Atlanta VA Medical Center have provided invaluable guidance, and this study would not have been completed without their help. I would also like to acknowledge Dr. Bradley Pearce and his laboratory staff for their patience and assistance during the analysis stage of this study. Finally, I would like to thank the veterans of the Atlanta VA Medical Center for volunteering to take part in this study and for their positive and refreshing attitudes

during every stage of this study.

Table of Contents

ABSTRACT	1
INTRODUCTION	2
METHODS	3
Study Population and Procedure	3
Cardiovascular Risk Factor and Covariate Ascertainment	5
Cardiac Biomarker Ascertainment	6
Statistical Analysis	7
RESULTS	8
DISCUSSION	_ 11
FUNDING	_ 14
REFERENCES	_ 15
TABLES	_ 19
Table 1. Demographic and Clinical Characteristics of Study Participants Overall and by HIV Status	
Table 2. Estimated Odds Ratios (OR) and 95% Confidence Intervals (CI) for theAssociation of HIV with Cardiovascular Risk Factors in Study Participants,Controlling for Age, Sex, and Race	_ 20
Table 3. Cardiovascular Biomarker Results for Study Participants Overall and by H Status	
Table 4. Multiple Linear Regression Results for the Association of HIV withCardiovascular Health and Cardiovascular Biomarkers in Study Participants,Controlling for Age, Sex, and Race	_ 22
FIGURES	_ 23
Figure 1. Recruitment Process Results for Eligible Participants	

Cardiovascular Risk Factors and Cardiac Biomarkers in Veterans Living with HIV and Uninfected Individuals

Kaitlin Cirulli

ABSTRACT

Background: Non-communicable diseases have increased in people living with HIV; in particular, the risk of developing cardiovascular disease is two-fold higher in HIV-positive individuals.

Methods: Forty HIV-positive participants and uninfected individuals were recruited from the Atlanta VA Medical Center. Cardiovascular risk factors were collected through physical exams and paper questionnaires, and the following biomarkers were measured: high-sensitivity C-reactive protein (hsCRP), galectin-3, amino terminal propeptide of Btype natriuretic peptide (NT-proBNP), troponin T (TnT), and 3-nitrotyrosine (3-NT). Cardiovascular health was defined using the American Heart Association's Life's Simple 7. Multivariable logistic regression and multiple linear regression was conducted to evaluate the association of HIV infection status with risk factors and biomarkers of interest.

Results: HIV-positive participants on average scored 1.7 points higher (95% confidence interval: 0.9, 2.4) than uninfected individuals for the measure of overall cardiovascular health. HIV-positive participants were more likely to report a history of smoking and moderate exercise and less likely to report being a current smoker, use of medications for cholesterol, and use of medications for blood pressure. Additionally, HIV-positive participants had higher concentrations of hsCRP, galectin-3, and TnT values, and lower NT-proBNP and 3-NT values; however, these findings were not statistically significant.

Conclusions: In general, HIV-positive participants had better levels of cardiovascular health than uninfected individuals; however, biomarker results indicate a potentially greater risk for cardiovascular disease in the future.

INTRODUCTION

While the life expectancy and overall quality of life for people living with human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) continue to improve thanks to combination antiretroviral therapy (cART), a rise in comorbidities associated with non-communicable diseases such as liver, renal, and cardiovascular disease (CVD) is emerging in HIV-infected patients (1). The leading cause of mortality across the globe, cardiovascular disease, has not spared the HIV-positive population, as the global burden of CVD associated with HIV has tripled in recent years (2). A greater risk for developing cardiovascular disease has also developed for people living with HIV (2).

Traditional risk factors for CVD include high blood pressure, high cholesterol, diabetes, smoking, obesity, physical inactivity, family history of CVD, and older age (3). Additional indices for CVD risk include blood cardiac biomarkers. Specifically, several biomarkers can evaluate risk for primary cardiovascular events in populations without a history of CVD (4). These biomarkers can identify the vulnerability associated with an increased risk for CVD. For example, C-reactive protein (CRP), a biomarker of inflammation, has shown a strong association with cardiovascular disease risk in populations without a history of cardiovascular disease and is linked to arterial vulnerability (4, 5). Evidence also exists for biomarkers including nitrotyrosine, a marker of oxidative stress, and natriuretic peptides, markers of cardiac overload, to identify arterial vulnerability and to have a strong link to disease prospectively (5). Similarly, troponin identifies myocardial vulnerability and has shown to have good evidence of a link to CVD prospectively (5). Few studies have investigated these biomarkers in individuals living with HIV.

This study aims to see which, if any, of these cardiac biomarkers differ according to HIV status. The biomarkers used in this study include the following: high-sensitivity C-reactive protein (hsCRP), galectin-3, amino terminal propeptide of B-type natriuretic peptide (NT-proBNP), troponin T (TnT), and 3-nitrotyrosine (3-NT). hsCRP has been associated with coronary artery disease and myocardial infarction (6). NT-proBNP has also been associated with myocardial infarction, as well as with heart failure and hypertension (6). Specifically, NT-proBNP has been indicative of heart failure in patients that are exhibiting CVD symptoms and of left ventricular dysfunction in asymptomatic subjects (7). Galectin-3 has been associated with cardiac fibrosis and incident heart failure (8). Lastly, TnT has been associated with cardiomyopathy, and 3-NT has been indicative of atherosclerosis (6, 9). This study aims to determine the association of HIV infection status with cardiovascular risk factors, markers of cardiovascular health, and the previously mentioned cardiac biomarkers.

METHODS

Study Population and Procedure

HIV-positive participants were selected from the HIV Atlanta Veterans Affairs Cohort Study (HAVACS), described in detail elsewhere (10). HAVACS was initiated in 1982 and is an extensive database of every HIV-positive patient ever seen at the Atlanta VA Medical Center (AVAMC). The uninfected participants in this study were veterans receiving primary care services at the AVAMC. Twenty uninfected participants were matched one to one to the 20 HIV-positive participants by sex, race, and age (grouped as less than 50 and 50 or greater).

Individuals were screened for existing cardiovascular disease, and inclusion in this study required participants to be free of cardiovascular disease, such as coronary artery disease, substantial arrhythmias, valvular disease, heart failure, stroke, and pericarditis. Patient charts were also screened to exclude any participants with evidence of renal disease, determined by a serum creatinine greater than 1.5 mg/dL or eGFR less than 60 mL/min/1.73m². Lastly, any contraindications for MRI excluded potential participants.

Eligible participants were mailed an invitation letter describing the study and providing instructions to contact the research coordinator to proceed further or opt-out of the study. One hundred ten letters were mailed to potential HIV-positive participants and 100 letters were mailed to potential uninfected participants. Two weeks after these letters were mailed, participants were contacted by phone to identify potential interest and confirm eligibility requirements. Ninety-four HIV-positive individuals were contacted, and 79 uninfected individuals were contacted. Of those, 20 positive and 20 uninfected participants completed the enrollment process.

Participants first met with the research coordinator to obtain written informed consent and authorize the release of protected health information for research purposes. The participant then completed a paper questionnaire collecting medical history and diet and lifestyle information. Upon completion of the questionnaire, a physical exam was performed, including measures for blood pressure, height, and weight. Lastly, a certified phlebotomist drew a sample of blood to be later analyzed for cardiac biomarkers. Once the blood draw was complete, each participant was compensated. The Institutional Review Board at Emory University approved this study.

Cardiovascular Risk Factor and Covariate Ascertainment

Data for cardiovascular risk factors of interest and other covariates were collected through a paper questionnaire completed by each participant during his or her clinic exam. The questionnaire was provided to the participant while the research coordinator remained in the exam room to answer any questions. Additionally, a physical exam was conducted to measure blood pressure, height, and weight. The research coordinator measured blood pressure three times using an electronic blood pressure monitor, while the patient remained seated. Each measurement was collected one minute apart. Standing height and weight were also measured by the research coordinator. Participant age and race was extracted from the patient's medical chart on the day of enrollment.

In order to obtain a measure of each participant's overall cardiovascular health, a composite measure was created based on the American Heart Association's (AHA) construct of ideal cardiovascular health, Life's Simple 7, consisting of seven health behaviors and health factors (11). For the purposes of this study, a similar composite variable was created, with one point for each metric that the participant meets, based on the AHA's ideal cardiovascular health definition and the available data. Ideal smoking status was met if the participant reported not having smoked any cigarette in the last 30 days. BMI was met if the calculated BMI was less than 25 kg/m². Sufficient physical activity required participants to report greater than or equal to 150 minutes per week of moderate exercise or 75 minutes per week of vigorous exercise. A healthy diet required reporting four of the following five standards: greater than or equal to four and a half

cups of fruits and vegetables per day, greater than or equal to two servings of fish per week, greater than or equal to three servings of whole grains per day, less than 1500 mg of sodium per day, and less than 36 ounces of sugar-sweetened beverages per week. Ideal cholesterol was considered met if the participant reported no history of hypercholesterolemia. Ideal blood pressure was met if the participant's average blood pressure was less than 120/80 mmHg. Lastly, fasting plasma glucose was considered met if the participant reported no history of diabetes. If the participant did not meet the criteria previously listed, they would earn zero points for that metric. The final range of this composite variable was from zero, indicating the worst cardiovascular health, to seven, indicating the best cardiovascular health.

Cardiac Biomarker Ascertainment

Cardiovascular biomarkers were measured from serum and plasma processed using standard procedures. These aliquots were stored at -80°C and thawed immediately prior to performing each assay at the Rollins School of Public Health. Laboratory technicians were blinded to HIV status. High-sensitivity C-reactive protein (hsCRP), galectin-3, amino terminal propeptide of B-type natriuretic peptide (NT-proBNP), and troponin T (TnT) were measured on serum samples using the Meso scale platform and biomarker-specific antibody sets on streptavidin-coated plates. 3-nitrotyrosine (3-NT) was measured on plasma samples using the 3-nitrotyrosine enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) kit from Abcam (ab116691).

Statistical Analysis

Data analysis was performed using SAS, Version 9.4. In order to avoid confounding by certain known cardiovascular risk factors and to have an adequate distribution of demographics in both infected and uninfected participants, HIV-positive participants were frequency matched to HIV-uninfected individuals by age, sex, and race. HIV infection status was the primary independent variable. All analyses adjusted for age, sex, race. Race was dichotomized as white and non-white. Initial analysis steps included calculating average systolic and diastolic blood pressure values from the three individual measurements. Body mass index (BMI) was also calculated from measured height in centimeters and weight in kilograms. Additionally, all participants were confirmed eligible by examining questionnaire responses indicating a history of cardiovascular disease and confirming medications for exclusionary conditions were not being taken. Descriptive statistics were obtained for the study population overall and by HIV status.

Multivariable logistic regression was conducted to statistically evaluate the association of HIV infection status with the dichotomous outcomes, including the following cardiovascular risk factors: diabetes status, current smoking status, history of smoking, use of medications for high blood pressure, use of medications for high cholesterol, and moderate exercise. A current smoker was defined as someone who reported having smoked any cigarette in the last 30 days. History of smoking was defined as someone who had smoked more than 100 cigarettes in his or her lifetime. All models adjusted for age, sex, and race. One HIV-positive observation was removed from all analyses due to a missing value for race. By study design, all observations are considered independent. Cardiovascular risk factors chosen for analysis were assessed as

dichotomous categorical variables; participants selected either yes or no on the questionnaire provided during the clinic exam. Those who selected no were used as reference groups.

Multiple linear regression was conducted to statistically evaluate the association of HIV infection status with the continuous outcomes, including the cardiac biomarkers: hsCRP, galectin-3, NT-proBNP, TnT, and 3-NT. HIV infection status was the primary independent variable, and all models adjusted for age, sex, and race. Two HIV-positive observations were removed from all analyses due to a missing value for race and a hemolyzed lab sample leading to invalid biomarker results. Additionally, for analysis purposes, samples that reported undetectable TnT values were assigned a value of the limit of detection of 0.002 ng/mL divided by the square root of two, which equals .0014 ng/mL (12). As the distribution of means across participants did not appear normal for both hsCRP and NT-proBNP, the values were log-transformed and the linear regression analysis was repeated. Additionally, a non-parametric analysis was conducted for the NTproBNP results using an exact Wilcoxon two-sample test. Multiple linear regression was also performed to analyze the association of HIV infectious status with the cardiovascular health composite variable, while controlling for age, sex, and race.

RESULTS

Results from the recruitment process are detailed in Figure 1 and did not appear to differ by HIV status. Few individuals reached out to study staff after receiving the introductory letter. A large number of individuals were never reached by telephone and did not respond to voicemails. Of those that were able to be reached, the most common reasons for ineligibility include moving out of the state and being ineligible for an MRI. Additionally, several individuals who expressed interest and scheduled clinic appointments did not show or canceled their appointments and did not reschedule.

Selected characteristics of study participants are shown in Table 1 by total population and by HIV status. The average age at the time of exam was slightly higher for HIV-positive participants, but generally did not differ compared to that of the uninfected individuals. Both groups had equal distributions of males and females, with more males being enrolled. Additionally, the distribution of race among the two groups did not differ greatly. These results are expected, as we matched the uninfected participants to the positive participants by age, sex, and race. Several risk factors associated with CVD had fairly similar distributions among positive and uninfected individuals, including current smoking status and moderate exercise. The remaining risk factors, including BMI, blood pressure, and diabetes status, appear to have slight differences when comparing HIV-positive and uninfected participants as shown in Table 1. Notably, HIV-positive participants had better overall cardiovascular health, based on the composite cardiovascular health variable, at an average score of 4.4 compared to the uninfected individuals' score of 2.9.

As shown in Table 2, HIV-positive participants were more likely to report a history of smoking, when controlling for age, sex, and race; however, this finding was not statistically significant (OR = 1.42, 95% CI: 0.37, 5.44, p = 0.61). A similar association was found for moderate exercise. In contrast, HIV-positive participants were less likely to report being a current smoker, when controlling for age, sex, and race; however, this finding was also not statistically significant (OR = 0.74, 95% CI: 0.09, 6.05, p = 0.78). Reported use of medications for cholesterol showed a similar trend (OR = 0.45, 95% CI:

0.09, 2.15, p = 0.31). After controlling for age, sex, and race, HIV-positive status was statistically significantly associated with 20 times lower odds of reported use of medications for blood pressure (OR = 0.05, 95% CI: 0.01, 0.36, p = 0.004).

Cardiovascular biomarker results are shown in Table 3. One participant was removed from calculations due to a hemolyzed lab sample. Additionally, TnT was calculated using 19 samples that had detectable results. 12 of these samples were from HIV-positive participants and 7 were from uninfected individuals. The remaining 20 samples were assigned a value of 0.0014 ng/mL. HIV-positive individuals had higher levels of hsCRP, galectin-3, and TnT compared to uninfected individuals. For example, hsCRP, a biomarker of inflammation, was slightly above the total population average of 6.1 mg/L at 7.4 mg/L for HIV-positive participants, and lower than average for uninfected individuals at 4.9 mg/L. Contrastingly, HIV-positive participants had lower levels of both NT-proBNP and 3-nitrotyrosine compared to uninfected individuals.

Table 4 displays the multiple linear regression results for the association of HIV with cardiovascular health and biomarkers. On average, HIV-positive participants scored 1.7 points higher than uninfected individuals, and this result was statistically significant (95% CI: 0.9, 2.4, p < 0.0001). HIV-positive participants measured hsCRP values that were 2.9 mg/L greater on average than uninfected individuals; however, this association was not statistically significant (95% CI: -2.5, 8.3, p = 0.29). After log-transforming the hsCRP values and repeating the regression analysis, the results remained the same. Similar findings occurred for galectin-3 (2.6 ng/mL greater) and TnT (0.01 ng/mL greater). Contrastingly, HIV-positive participants measured 3-nitrotyrosine values that were 35.5 ng/mL lower than uninfected individuals on average; however, this finding was

not statistically significant (95% CI: -171.1, 100.1, p = 0.60). There was a similar trend with the NT-proBNP values (134.9 pg/mL lower), and this result was statistically significant (p = 0.032). However, after log-transforming the NT-proBNP values to address the failed assumption of normality, although an inverse association remains, the result is no longer statistically significant (p = 0.25). Lastly, the results of the exact Wilcoxon two-sided test using the original NT-proBNP values confirmed a nonsignificant association of HIV infection status with NT-proBNP (p = 0.19).

DISCUSSION

This study aimed to measure the association of HIV infection status with health behaviors and cardiovascular risk factors as well as with cardiac biomarkers. HIVpositive individuals reported a history of smoking and moderate exercise more often than uninfected individuals. Contrastingly, current smoking status, use of medications for cholesterol, and use of medications for blood pressure were reported less often among HIV-positive individuals. Additionally, higher levels of hsCRP, galectin-3, and TnT values were found in the HIV-positive population as well as lower levels of NT-proBNP and 3-nitrotyrosine. Overall, HIV-positive participants revealed a trend of better health and specifically, better cardiovascular health; however, biomarker results may indicate greater risk for cardiovascular disease in the future.

Previous studies have found higher proportions of hypertension, diabetes, and dyslipidemia in HIV-positive populations, and these particular factors have been associated with an increased risk of CVD (13, 14). The results of this study, however, led to opposite conclusions. HIV-positive individuals were less likely to report medication use for high cholesterol or blood pressure, and diabetes was non-existent in the HIV- positive group. Similarly, previous studies analyzing the entire Veterans Aging Cohort Study (VACS) and the HAVACS subset found HIV-positive individuals to be less likely to have hypertension, diabetes, high cholesterol, and high BMI (15, 16). Additionally, smoking has been a commonly found risk factor in HIV-positive populations (17). While a history of smoking was more likely to be reported among HIV-positive participants in this study, current smoking was less likely to be reported. Lastly, overall levels of cardiovascular health were higher in HIV infected individuals than uninfected participants. HIV-positive participants seemed to produce outcomes indicating more beneficial overall health than uninfected individuals. As previously discussed, this trend was also found in studies analyzing the HIV-positive population at the Atlanta VA. This conclusion could be specific to the veteran population or this geographic location in particular. Additionally, people infected with HIV may seek care more frequently than uninfected individuals, leading to better overall health.

Biomarkers of inflammation, high-sensitivity C-reactive protein and galectin-3, have been associated with severity and prognosis of heart failure (18). Previous studies have found HIV-positive individuals to have significantly higher levels of both hsCRP and galectin-3 compared to uninfected individuals (19, 20). While this study supports these higher levels in infected individuals, the results were not significant. NT-proBNP, a marker of cardiac overload, has also been found to help diagnose and determine the prognosis of heart failure as well as other cardiovascular diseases such as atrial fibrillation and pulmonary hypertension (21). While several studies have found that levels of NT-proBNP are elevated in HIV-infected individuals (22), additional evidence exists that certain therapies have decreased NT-proBNP levels in people living with HIV (23,

24). The results of this study confirm the lower levels of NT-proBNP among individuals with HIV; however, further manipulation of the NT-proBNP values resulted in insignificant associations. Troponin T is a biomarker of myocardial vulnerability, and one previous study has shown elevated levels in a quarter of patients with acute HIV infection; however, these levels significantly declined after viremic control (25). In our study, higher levels of TnT were associated with HIV infection, but this result was not statistically significant. Since only 19 samples had detectable values, this result should be considered insufficient to draw a conclusion. Lastly, few studies exist analyzing 3nitrotyrosine, a biomarker of oxidative stress and an indicator of atherosclerosis, in HIVpositive individuals. One study found that cells exposed to both the hepatitis C virus and HIV resulted in significantly increased production of 3-NT; however, exposure to HIV alone resulted in no significant effect (26). An additional study found elevated levels of 3-NT in rats that received exposure to cART (27). The results of our study are inconsistent with these previous findings, as lower levels of 3-NT were associated with HIV-positive individuals; however, this result was not statistically significant.

It is important to address several limitations in the study. The most notable limitation is the small sample size. This study was designed as a pilot study to gather initial research in order to help develop a larger proposal. Although there was a small number of participants, study staff were able to ensure that participants completed all aspects of the study, leading to a minor amount of missing data. Interviewer bias is an additional limitation in this study, as the study coordinator remained in the exam room as each participant completed the paper questionnaire requesting information about medical history as well as diet and lifestyle. Lastly, the study population consisted of 70% men. Although this is expected when working with the veteran population, there would ideally be an equal representation of sex. Since the entire population consisted of veterans seeking care at the Atlanta VA, these results may not be able to be extrapolated to a nonveteran population or patient populations in other geographical areas.

Future research could further investigate how co-infections, such as tuberculosis or hepatitis in conjunction with HIV infection, affect the association of HIV infection with cardiovascular risk factors and health behaviors. Including comorbidities such as alcoholism or certain chronic diseases may also lead to additional conclusions. Additionally, incorporating time by following a cohort of HIV-positive individuals and looking for incident CVD may help researchers understand the true risk of CVD. Further analysis involving a comparison of drug therapies among HIV-positive individuals may provide insight into why these associations between infection status and cardiovascular health exist. In conclusion, this study provides validity to develop a much larger study in order to investigate true associations between HIV infection and cardiovascular disease. Our findings suggest that differences may occur in risk of developing CVD among HIVpositive individuals, supporting the conclusions of previous studies that appropriate risk modification strategies are important when determining the treatment for HIV-infected individuals.

FUNDING

This work was assisted in part by a developmental grant from the NIH Center for AIDS Research at Emory University (P30AI050409).

REFERENCES

- Ma GS, Cotter BR. HIV and cardiovascular disease: much ado about nothing? *Eur. Heart J.* 2018;39(23):2155–2157.
- Shah ASV, Stelzle D, Lee KK, et al. Global Burden of Atherosclerotic Cardiovascular Disease in People Living With HIV. *Circulation*. 2018;138(11):1100–1112.
- Benjamin EJ, Muntner P, Alonso A, et al. Heart Disease and Stroke Statistics-2019 Update: A Report From the American Heart Association. *Circulation*. 2019;139(10):e56–e66.
- van Holten TC, Waanders LF, de Groot PG, et al. Circulating Biomarkers for Predicting Cardiovascular Disease Risk; a Systematic Review and Comprehensive Overview of Meta-Analyses. *PLoS One*. 2013;8(4):e62080.
- 5. Vasan RS. Biomarkers of cardiovascular disease: molecular basis and practical considerations. *Circulation*. 2006;113(19):2335–2362.
- 6. Gibbons GH, Liew CC, Goodarzi MO, et al. Genetic markers: progress and potential for cardiovascular disease. *Circulation*. 2004;109(25 Suppl 1):IV47–58.
- Cohn JN. Surrogate Markers for Cardiovascular Disease: Functional Markers. *Circulation*. 2004;109(25_suppl_1):IV-31-IV-46.

- Ho JE, Liu C, Lyass A, et al. Galectin-3, a marker of cardiac fibrosis, predicts incident heart failure in the community. *J. Am. Coll. Cardiol.* 2012;60(14):1249– 1256.
- Shishehbor MH, Aviles RJ, Brennan M-L, et al. Association of nitrotyrosine levels with cardiovascular disease and modulation by statin therapy. *JAMA*. 2003;289(13):1675–1680.
- 10. Guest JL, Moanna A, Schlueter Wirtz S, et al. Cohort Profile: The HIV Atlanta Veterans Affairs Cohort Study (HAVACS). *Int. J. Epidemiol.* 2017;46(5):1727.
- Lloyd-Jones DM, Hong Y, Labarthe D, et al. Defining and setting national goals for cardiovascular health promotion and disease reduction: the American Heart Association's strategic Impact Goal through 2020 and beyond. *Circulation*. 2010;121(4):586–613.
- Hornung RW, Reed LD. Estimation of Average Concentration in the Presence of Nondetectable Values. *Appl. Occup. Environ. Hyg.* 1990;5(1):46–51.
- Triant VA, Lee H, Hadigan C, et al. Increased acute myocardial infarction rates and cardiovascular risk factors among patients with human immunodeficiency virus disease. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 2007;92(7):2506–2512.
- 14. DAD Study Group, Friis-Møller N, Reiss P, et al. Class of antiretroviral drugs and the risk of myocardial infarction. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 2007;356(17):1723–1735.

- 15. White JR, Chang C-CH, So-Armah KA, et al. Depression and human immunodeficiency virus infection are risk factors for incident heart failure among veterans: Veterans Aging Cohort Study. *Circulation*. 2015;132(17):1630–1638.
- 16. Hidron AI, Hill B, Guest JL, et al. Risk factors for vitamin D deficiency among veterans with and without HIV infection. *PLoS One*. 2015;10(4):e0124168.
- Savès M, Chêne G, Ducimetière P, et al. Risk factors for coronary heart disease in patients treated for human immunodeficiency virus infection compared with the general population. *Clin. Infect. Dis.* 2003;37(2):292–298.
- Hartupee J, Mann DL. Positioning of inflammatory biomarkers in the heart failure landscape. J. Cardiovasc. Transl. Res. 2013;6(4):485–492.
- Hanna DB, Lin J, Post WS, et al. Association of Macrophage Inflammation Biomarkers With Progression of Subclinical Carotid Artery Atherosclerosis in HIV-Infected Women and Men. J. Infect. Dis. 2017;215(9):1352–1361.
- Ross AC, Rizk N, O'Riordan MA, et al. Relationship between inflammatory markers, endothelial activation markers, and carotid intima-media thickness in HIVinfected patients receiving antiretroviral therapy. *Clin. Infect. Dis.* 2009;49(7):1119– 1127.
- 21. Mahadavan G, Nguyen TH, Horowitz JD. Brain natriuretic peptide: a biomarker for all cardiac disease? *Curr. Opin. Cardiol.* 2014;29(2):160–166.

- Secemsky EA, Scherzer R, Nitta E, et al. Novel Biomarkers of Cardiac Stress, Cardiovascular Dysfunction, and Outcomes in HIV-Infected Individuals. *JACC Heart Fail*. 2015;3(8):591–599.
- 23. Dirajlal-Fargo S, Kinley B, Jiang Y, et al. Statin therapy decreases N-terminal pro-B-type natriuretic peptide in HIV: randomized placebo-controlled trial. *AIDS*.
 2015;29(3):313–321.
- Schuster C, Binder C, Strassl R, et al. Impact of HIV infection and antiretroviral treatment on N-terminal prohormone of brain natriuretic peptide as surrogate of myocardial function. *AIDS*. 2017;31(3):395–400.
- Schuster C, Mayer FJ, Wohlfahrt C, et al. Acute HIV Infection Results in Subclinical Inflammatory Cardiomyopathy. J. Infect. Dis. 2018;218(3):466–470.
- 26. El-Hage N, Dever SM, Fitting S, et al. HIV-1 coinfection and morphine coexposure severely dysregulate hepatitis C virus-induced hepatic proinflammatory cytokine release and free radical production: increased pathogenesis coincides with uncoordinated host defenses. J. Virol. 2011;85(22):11601–11614.
- Mak IT, Chmielinska JJ, Spurney CF, et al. Combination ART-Induced Oxidative/Nitrosative Stress, Neurogenic Inflammation and Cardiac Dysfunction in HIV-1 Transgenic (Tg) Rats: Protection by Mg. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* [electronic article]. 2018;19(8). (http://dx.doi.org/10.3390/ijms19082409)

TABLES

Table 1. Demographic and Clinical Characteristics of Study Participants Overall and by HIV Status

Characteristic	Total Population ^a (n=40)	HIV Positive (n=20)	Uninfected Individuals (n=20)
Age at time of exam, years	49.4 (8.7)	50.4 (8.4)	48.4 (9.1)
Sex, N (%)	× /	. ,	. ,
Male	28 (70)	14 (70)	14 (70)
Female	12 (30)	6 (30)	6 (30)
Race, N (%)			· · · ·
White	19 (48)	9 (45)	10 (50)
Non-white	20 (50)	10 (50)	10 (50)
Declined to answer	1(2)	1 (5)	0(0)
Body Mass Index, kg/m ²	31.1 (7.1)	30.9 (6.9)	31.4 (7.5)
Diabetes status, N (%)			
Yes	3 (8)	0 (0)	3 (15)
No	36 (90)	19 (95)	17 (85)
Unsure	1 (2)	1 (5)	0 (0)
Current smoker, ^b N (%)	1 (2)	1 (0)	0 (0)
Yes	6 (15)	2 (10)	4 (20)
No	34 (85)	18 (90)	16 (80)
History of smoking, ^c N (%)	51(05)	10 (50)	10 (00)
Yes	15 (38)	8 (40)	7 (35)
No	25 (62)	12 (60)	13 (65)
Systolic blood pressure, mm Hg	122.3 (14.8)	115.1 (9.0)	129.6 (16.0)
Diastolic blood pressure, mm Hg	80.1 (10.7)	76.6 (8.6)	83.6 (11.6)
Use of medications for high blood pre-		/ 0.0 (0.0)	0010 (1110)
Yes	17 (42)	4 (20)	13 (65)
No	23 (58)	16 (80)	7 (35)
Use of medications for high cholester		10 (00)	7 (33)
Yes	12 (3)	5 (25)	7 (35)
No	28 (70)	15 (75)	13 (65)
Moderate exercise, N (%)	20(10)	15 (75)	15 (05)
Yes	32 (80)	17 (85)	15 (75)
No	8 (20)	3 (15)	5 (25)
Assessment of overall health status, N		5 (15)	5 (25)
Excellent	6 (15)	4 (20)	2 (10)
Very good	16 (40)	4 (20) 8 (40)	2 (10) 8 (40)
Good	17 (43)	8 (40)	9 (45)
Fair	17(43) 1 (2)	0 (0)	1 (5)
Poor	$ \begin{array}{c} 1 \\ 2 \\ 0 \\ (0) \end{array} $	0(0) 0(0)	$ \begin{array}{c} 1 \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \end{array} $
Cardiovascular health indicator ^d	3.6 (1.4)	4.4 (1.2)	2.9 (1.1)
Data given as mean (SD) unless otherwise specified.	5.0 (1.4)	4.4 (1.2)	2.7 (1.1)

Data given as mean (SD) unless otherwise specified. ^aIndividuals free of cardiovascular disease (coronary artery disease, substantial arrhythmias, valvular disease, heart failure, stroke, and pericarditis) were eligible. ^bCurrent smoker defined as someone who has smoked any cigarette in the last 30 days. ^cHistory of smoking defined as someone who has smoked more than 100 cigarettes in his/her lifetime. ^dCardiovascular health indicator, ranging from worst of 0 to best of 7, was calculated based on the American Heart Association's (AHA) construct of ideal cardiovascular health consisting of the following 7 health behaviors and health factors: current smoking status, BMI, physical activity, diet, history of high cholesterol, blood pressure, and diabetes status (11).

Table 2. Estimated Odds Ratios (OR) and 95% Confidence Intervals (CI) for the Association of HIV with Cardiovascular Risk Factors in Study Participants, Controlling for Age, Sex, and Race

Characteristic	HIV Positive ^a (n=19)	Uninfected Individuals (n=20)	OR	95%	CI	P-Value
Diabetes status						
No ^b	18	17				
Yes	0	3	NA	NA	NA	NA
Current smoker ^c						
No ^b	17	16	1.00			
Yes	2	4	0.74	0.09	6.05	0.78
History of smoking ^d						
No ^b	11	13	1.00			
Yes	8	7	1.42	0.37	5.44	0.61
Use of medications for	high blood pro	essure				
No ^b	15	7	1.00			
Yes	4	13	0.05	0.01	0.36	0.004
Use of medications for	high cholester	ol				
No ^b	14	13	1.00			
Yes	5	7	0.45	0.09	2.15	0.31
Moderate exercise						
No ^b	3	5	1.00			
Yes	16	15	1.85	0.36	9.34	0.46
^a One participant was remove ^b Reference group	ed from analysis c	lue to missing race	value.			

^cCurrent smoker defined as someone who has smoked any cigarette in the last 30 days.

^dHistory of smoking defined as someone who has smoked more than 100 cigarettes in his/her lifetime.

Table 3. Cardiovascular Biomarker Results for Study Participants Overall and by	
HIV Status	

Biomarker	Total Population ^a (n=39)	HIV Positive (n=19)	Uninfected Individuals (n=20)
High-sensitivity C-reactive Protein (mg/L)	6.1 (9.0)	7.4 (11.2)	4.9 (6.5)
Galectin-3 (ng/mL)	17.7 (8.8)	19.3 (9.4)	16.0 (8.1)
Amino Terminal Propeptide of B-type Natriuretic Peptide (pg/mL)	198.0 (186.5)	137.9 (70.1)	255.0 (240.6)
Troponin T (ng/mL) ^b	0.019 (0.02)	0.025 (0.03)	0.013 (0.02)
3-Nitrotyrosine (ng/mL)	1,088.4 (192.5)	1,069.5 (207.6)	1,106.4 (180.6)
Data given as mean (SD).		····	· · · ·

^aOne participant was removed due to a hemolyzed sample. ^bTnT was calculated using 19 samples with detectable values. 12 were HIV-positive and 7 were uninfected individuals. The remaining 20 samples were assigned 0.0014 ng/mL.

Table 4. Multiple Linear Regression Results for the Association of HIV withCardiovascular Health and Cardiovascular Biomarkers in Study Participants,Controlling for Age, Sex, and Race

	Estimate	95% Confidence Interval		P-Value
Cardiovascular health (score, range 0-7) ^a	1.7	0.9	2.4	< 0.0001
Biomarker ^b				
High-sensitivity C-reactive Protein (mg/L)	2.9	-2.5	8.3	0.29
Log-transformed High-sensitivity C-reactive Protein (mg/L)	0.2	-0.8	1.2	0.75
Galectin-3 (ng/mL)	2.6	-2.5	7.7	0.31
Amino Terminal Propeptide of B-type Natriuretic Peptide (pg/mL)	-134.9	-257.5	-12.3	0.032
Log-transformed Amino Terminal Propeptide of B-type Natriuretic Peptide (pg/mL)	-0.4	-1.1	0.3	0.25
Troponin T (ng/mL) ^c	0.01	-0.01	0.03	0.19
3-Nitrotyrosine (ng/mL)	-35.5	-171.1	100.1	0.60
Cardiovacaular health indicator ranging from worst of	f_0 to best of 7 w	ing an and an late d by		

^aCardiovascular health indicator, ranging from worst of 0 to best of 7, was calculated based on the American Heart Association's (AHA) construct of ideal cardiovascular health consisting of the following 7 health behaviors and health factors: current smoking status, BMI, physical activity, diet, history of high cholesterol, blood pressure, and diabetes status (11).

^bOne participant was removed due to a hemolyzed sample.

^cTnT was calculated using 19 samples with detectable values. 12 were HIV-positive and 7 were uninfected individuals. The remaining 20 samples were assigned 0.0014 ng/mL.

FIGURES



Figure 1. Recruitment Process Results for Eligible Participants